Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA)



Submission to the Senate Community Affairs References Committee

Inquiry into Planning Options and Services for People Ageing with a Disability.

May 2010

Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA)

Submission to the Senate Community Affairs References Committee

Inquiry into Planning Options and Services for People Ageing with a Disability.

This document was produced by:



Winner, National Human Rights Award 2001 Winner, National Violence Prevention Award 1999 Winner, Tasmanian Women's Safety Award 2008

Certificate of Merit, Australian Crime & Violence Prevention Awards 2008

Nominee, French Republic's Human Rights Prize 2003 Nominee, UN Millennium Peace Prize for Women 2000

Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA) PO Box 605, Rosny Park 7018 TASMANIA, AUSTRALIA

Ph: +61 3 62448288 Fax: +61 3 62448255

ABN: 23 627 650 121 Email: wwda@wwda.org.au Web: www.wwda.org.au

Prepared by Margaret Cooper for Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA).

© Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA) May 2010

This work is copyright. Apart from any use as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, no part may be reproduced without written permission from Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA). All possible care has been taken in the preparation of the information contained in this document. WWDA disclaims any liability for the accuracy and sufficiency of the information and under no circumstances shall be liable in negligence or otherwise in or arising out of the preparation or supply of any of the information aforesaid.



Contents

| 1. | About Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA) | 4 |
|-----|--|-----|
| 2. | Background | . 4 |
| 3. | The Australian Policy Context | . 4 |
| 4. | Key issues | . 6 |
| 4.1 | Positive Ageing versus Successful Ageing | . 6 |
| 4.2 | Ageing versus ageing with long-term disability | . 7 |
| 4.3 | Factors affecting women with disabilities. | . 8 |
| 4.4 | Ageing with long-term impairments | . 9 |
| 4.5 | Citizenship | 10 |
| 4.6 | Lack of informed advisors and services | 11 |
| 4.7 | Disability service providers need aged care skills | 12 |
| 5. | Recommendations | 12 |
| 6. | Conclusion | 14 |
| 7. | References | 15 |

1. About Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA)

Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA) is the peak organisation for women with all types of disabilities in Australia. WWDA is run by women with disabilities, for women with disabilities. It is the only organisation of its kind in Australia and one of only a very small number internationally in that it operates as a national disability organisation; a national women's organisation; and a national human rights organisation. WWDA represents more than 2 million disabled women in Australia. WWDA is inclusive and does not discriminate against any disability. The aim of WWDA is to be a national voice for the needs and rights of women with disabilities and a national force to improve the lives and life chances of women with disabilities. WWDA addresses disability within a social model, which identifies the barriers and restrictions facing women with disabilities as the focus for reform.

WWDA is committed to promoting and advancing the human rights and fundamental freedoms of women with disabilities. Our work is grounded in a rights based framework which links gender and disability issues to a full range of civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights. This rights based approach recognises that equal treatment, equal opportunity, and non-discrimination provide for inclusive opportunities for women and girls with disabilities in society. It also seeks to create greater awareness among governments and other relevant institutions of their obligations to fulfill, respect, protect and promote human rights and to support and empower women with disabilities, both individually and collectively, to claim their rights. A rights based approach also demonstrates, in a practical way, our organisation's commitment to the implementation of the core international human rights treaties ratified by the Australia Government, in particular the *Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities* (CRPD), and the *Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women* (CEDAW).

More information about WWDA can be found at the organisation's extensive website at: www.wwda.org.au

2. Background

For some years, it has been a concern of WWDA that scant policy attention has been paid to developing supports for people with disabilities, especially women, as they age. This Submission forms WWDA's initial response to the Senate Community Affairs References Committee Inquiry, announced on November 25th 2009, into Planning Options and Services for People Ageing with a Disability. While this submission considers the situation of people ageing with long-term physical impairments, many of the recommendations are equally applicable for people with sensory or psychiatric disabilities.

3. The Australian Policy Context

Like their non-disabled peers, people with disabilities are surviving longer and ageing in larger numbers than ever before. Life expectancy has increased in Australia, as in other major developed nations, because of improved medical care and a better quality of life. Mortality is delayed by better living conditions, sanitation and

medicine (Oeppen & Vaupel, 2002, UN, 2002) and improvements in levels of education. Australian studies have shown an increase in age at death (McCallum 1997, Coory 2004, AIHW 2000). In addition the numbers of people reporting disability but whose disabilities are not the direct cause of death, have increased (Borowski & Hugo 1997, McCallum 1997, ABS 2003). The percentage of Australians aged 65 and over is expected to increase from 12% of the population in 1997, to 18% in 2021, and 27% in 2051 (Ministerial Reference Group a & b, ABS, 2004). However, there is insufficient parallel information about indigenous populations (ABS, 2004).

It has been shown that there is a direct relationship between ageing and acquired impairment (ABS 1999, AIHW 2003, Giles, Cameron & Crotty 2003), with osteoarthritis being the primary cause of disability in the elderly (March & Bagga 2004). Osteoporosis disproportionately affects females and is the cause of fractures in 30%-50% of older women (Seeman & Eisman 2004), whereas the incidence for men is a much lower 15%-30%.

Although there is an economically based assumption that older people are a drain on the nation's resources (Commonwealth 2003), ageing persons do contribute significantly to their communities. In addition there is debate about the level of their health care costs (Coory 2004). Expenditure on health, as a proportion of a nation's Gross Domestic Product, by countries belonging to the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) has not been found to relate to ageing of the population (Coory 2004). Moreover, ageing of the Australian population has been shown as not associated with increased use of hospital beds (Gray et al 2004). In fact, older people generate investment monies. They may share wealth with younger generations; they do voluntary work in charities, and care for grandchildren and ill relatives (ABS 2004, Warburton 2004). Their contributions, rights and responsibilities must be recognised. In fact the United Nations International Plan of Action on Ageing states that nations must enable:

"Empowerment of older persons to fully and effectively participate in the economic, social and political lives of their societies including income generation and voluntary work (UN 2002, 12.c)".

Ageing is a process of life complicated by individual emotional reactions to the inevitable approach of its end. Ageing also means that one's ability to increase and maintain physical reserve is diminished (Mosqueda 2004). There are a number of theoretical approaches which influence the planning of service options for people entering this stage of life. These include biomedical, social and citizenship, economic, ecological, and successful ageing paradigms.

Importantly, the majority of these planning paradigms completely ignore the situation of people ageing with disabilities.

In the 2003 Survey of Disability, Ageing and Carers, disability was claimed by 3,958,300 people living in Australia (ABS, 2004). This constituted approximately 20% of the Australian population at that time. The Australian Bureau of Statistics defines a person as having disability if they have one or more "limitations,"

restrictions or impairments which has lasted, or is likely to last, for at least six months and restricts everyday activity" (ABS 2008). This definition is based on the International Classification of Impairments, Disabilities and Health as published and developed by the World Health Organisation (Geneva, 1980).

In contrast, the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) endorses a social model of disability and acknowledges changing societal perceptions. It recognises that:

"...disability is an evolving concept and that disability results from the interaction between persons with impairments and attitudinal and environmental barriers that hinder their full and effective participation in society" (CRPD, Preamble clause [e]).

The rate of disability was noted to increase with age (ABS, 2003, AIHW, 2000).

WWDA is concerned that it is unclear which government will fund and manage the care of people ageing with long-term disabilities. The Health and National Hospitals' Agreement of April 2010 gave the Commonwealth full funding and policy responsibility for aged care. The reform will involve a transfer to the Commonwealth of current resourcing for aged care services from the Home and Community Care (HACC) program (except in Victoria). It is proposed that this change will take effect from 30 June 2011. Within Victoria, the existing arrangements will remain in place until otherwise determined. An anomaly exists in that packaged community and residential aged care, and specialist disability services remain under the National Disability Agreement. There is confusion amongst people with disabilities as to whether they will still be able to access disability services, day centres or community based disability worker support for example, once they reach the age of 65, or whether they will be transferred to the care of strangers in aged care systems.

Several key issues must be addressed to enable positive ageing of people with long-term disabilities as well as those ageing with age associated impairments.

4. Key issues

4.1 Positive Ageing versus Successful Ageing

WWDA uses a positive ageing perspective. The term 'positive ageing' has a broader meaning than 'successful ageing'. The latter refers mainly to the well elderly who have little loss of abilities (Rowe & Kahn 1987). Positive ageing indicates a reciprocal relationship and respect between the individual and society and is summarised in the UN Madrid Plan:

"It is essential to recognise the ability of older persons to contribute to society by taking the lead not only in their own betterment but in that of society as a whole" (UN 2002).

People ageing with disabilities contribute greatly to the communities around them. They have life goals and value what they have achieved as partners, parents, friends, workers and volunteers. The majority now care for their aged partners, adult children, aged parents, aged friends and grandchildren.

Positive ageing or ageing with quality of life has many facets. Positive ageing is dependent on mental health and well-being (Browning et al 2005). Well-being is in turn dependent on the quality of life. The dimensions of the quality of life may include personal autonomy, cultural and social integration, purposeful activity, quality of environment, socio-economic status, physical and mental wellbeing, and expressed satisfaction (Hughes 1990). People with disabilities are particularly concerned about maintaining control of their lives and pursuing their chosen social roles and goals.

4.2 Ageing versus ageing with long-term disability

People with disabilities have to cope with additional issues as well as those associated with ageing. They need to be differentiated from people with age-related health conditions (Crewe 1990, Putnam 2002, Mosqueda 2004). Sometimes people with disabilities find that their impairments progress and that their ageing is accelerated, so that age-related conditions manifest well before they reach the chronological age at which such symptoms might be expected. These people need assessment and appropriate services at this earlier time, and re-assessment again when ageing.

Progression of a person's impairment is sometimes mistaken for ageing. Often as people with disabilities enter into their third or fourth decade of life, they seek help because they notice a deterioration in their ability to cope with core activities. Core activity limitation is determined by the individual's need for assistance or equipment to undertake tasks involved in communication, mobility or self care (ABS 2003). Limitations are described at four levels which range from mild to profound. A severe or profound core activity restriction, meaning the person always needs help with one or more core activities, was reported by 1,244,500 persons (6.3% of the Australian population, and 31% of people with impairment or disabling main conditions (ABS, 2003)). The rate of core activity restriction increases with age.

Impairment progression is not the same process as ageing and should be treated differently and at the time it becomes evident in individuals' lives (Thompson 2004). Impairment progression is used to describe symptoms such as new pain, fatigue, weakness and bony problems, resulting in deterioration in the individual's ability to continue as high a level of activity as before. It occurs in a wide variety of impairment groups and has been most clearly reported by medical and scientific researchers as associated with polio, spinal cord injury and cerebral palsy (Bruno 1991,2002, Treischmann 1986, 1992, Gerhart, 1993, and Gerhart, 2001 cited in Mosqueda, 2004)

4.3 Factors affecting women with disabilities.

As a component of moving into the ageing process, all women have to cope with menopause whether it occurs naturally or by surgical intervention. Some will also have to live with some level of osteoporosis. Women with impairments have particular vulnerabilities which are often ignored.

There is no Australian research on osteoporosis in women with long-term disabilities. A study conducted in the USA showed the risk factors for women who are mobility impaired are greater than for their non-impaired peers (Haziza et al 2007). The records of 164 patients of a post-polio clinic were reviewed to determine the frequency of osteoporosis at the hip and lumbar spine in a post-polio clinic population. Osteoporosis occurred commonly at the hip. Hip bone density was associated with muscle strength in the same lower leg (Haziza 2007). Another USA study showed that similar risks were found in males and females in the spinal cord injury population (Garland et al 1992).

There is no Australian research on menopause experienced by women with disabilities. American women who had a history of polio were surveyed on their health status, post-polio *sequelae* and menopause transition (Kalpakjian 2004). A total of 1283 men and women completed a questionnaire, with the majority (909 females) completing an extra module regarding menopause. Ninety-five percent of people in the study were of Caucasian background. The average age of respondents was 63.5 years, so most were post-menopausal. This project was the first of its kind into the interaction of physical impairment and menopause (Kalpakjian 2004). There were interesting findings. The severity of post-polio sequelae related significantly to the severity of menopause symptoms. In turn severity of menopause symptoms was related to lesser emotional well being. Post menopausal women reported higher levels of stress than their male peers. In addition, women with disabilities used Hormone Replacement Therapy (HRT) at a higher rate than women in the general community. The use of HRT was not associated with better physical functioning or emotional wellbeing. Hysterectomy rates for women with disabilities were significantly higher than non-disabled women.

Women with disabilities throughout Australia bear a disproportionate burden of poverty and are recognised as amongst the poorest of all groups in society (WWDA 2006, Saunders 2006). In Australia, twenty-one per cent (21%) of men with disabilities are in full time employment compared to nine percent (9%) of women with disabilities. In any type of employment women with disabilities are more likely to be in low paid, part time, short term casual jobs (WWDA 2004). These factors mean women with disabilities have less chance to accumulate resources to cope with non-optional expenses, yet these expenses increase more steeply as they age compared to their male peers and to non-disabled women. Thus employment history will have a profound impact on the poverty levels of women with disabilities as they age.

4.4 Ageing with long-term impairments

WWDA believes that people ageing with long-term impairments have issues which are not recognised by planners and service providers. These include not understanding the disability experience, confusion of impairment progression and the ageing condition, gender and disability discrimination issues affecting women with disabilities, and lack of information about how people with disabilities perceive ageing.

Although, longevity has increased for both impaired and non-impaired populations in the USA (Crewe, 1990, Putnam, 2002, Torres-Gil & Putnam, 2004) and Australia (ABS, 2004), not enough is known about the ageing process for those with long-term impairments (Crewe 1991, Cooper 1998, Putnam 2002). In this submission, a long-term impairment means one which has existed for a decade or more. Already, ageing with psychiatric impairment is becoming a focus of new research as those affected by major long-term psychiatric disorders join the ranks of the elderly (Harvey et al 2006).

Ageing is an extra process people with disabilities have to deal with. The effect of having coped with some level of impairment through life stages means that people with disabilities start their ageing from a lower base-line point than their non-disabled peers. People with disabilities face the same issues of age-related impairments as their families, friends and neighbours, but these are superimposed over their existing impairments. Many people with disabilities have had lesser opportunity for full development of physical, intellectual or psychological potential before entering ageing (Mosqueda 2004). They may also have had less opportunity to build financial resources from employment and have less ability to financially cope with expenses associated with later life (Mosqueda 2004).

There is insufficient information about the numbers of people ageing with long-term disabilities. Available statistical data does not give clear information about the numbers of people ageing who have lived many decades with impairments. Sometimes people living with long-term impairments have chosen not to declare their conditions to statistical surveys.

Available information shows that many people have multiple disabilities. Analysis of data carried out by the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare into Disability and Ageing, shows that early onset of disability occurring before the age of 18 years, is reported by about 10% (112,500) of the total population with disability (AIHW 2000:103). For those with severe profound core activity restriction, 11% (30,200) had acquired this level of disability before age 18. However the majority (63.3%) of those with early onset of disability are people who have an intellectual disability as their main disabling condition. Physical (8.3%) and psychiatric (10.6%) conditions were least like to have occurred before the age of 18.

Data is not yet available which discriminates between people with long-term physical impairments who are ageing and people whose impairments are related to ageing alone. There are some indicators that the former cohort is growing. The increased need for assistance in the populations aged 45-64, and those aged 65 and over, has significant implications for family and informal carers, service providers, and people living with impairments as well as coping with ageing life stages.

4.5 Citizenship

The experience of living with disability is relevant to how ageing is handled. People with disabilities have had to develop strategies to cope with stigma and discrimination. Too many have had to struggle to achieve a measure of citizenship. Full exercise of citizenship may be challenged in the elderly (Carney 1997) and further challenged for those who have been rendered vulnerable by their disabilities earlier in their lives.

Consideration of citizenship is crucial in understanding the particular situation of people ageing with long-term disabilities. Citizenship means participation in decisions which determine our society, and exercising the right to control over one's circumstances. Civil and political aspects of citizenship refer to the capacity to vote, to have access to education, health care and other services, and to receive just treatment under the law. Civil citizenship refers to the capacity to exercise the rights to contracts, education and other opportunities of civil society.

The aspect of citizenship which crucially affects people with impairments is in the social roles attributed to them. Prejudice still exists. People with impairments and disability continue to be perceived as on the boundary of society. Prejudicial attitudes and treatment also come, in part, from all people with disabilities being ascribed the characteristic of dependence and the role of burden on the nation's welfare system (Newell & Goggin 2005). Such negative and often misinformed attitudes come in part from the need for some people with disabilities to have some support from the state, in the form of state-funded care programs, or full or partial social security payments to offset a permanent or temporary inability to engage in full-time or part-time work.

Citizenship issues are relevant to people with disabilities as they age. Three facets of citizenship applicable to older people are: income security including housing; personal rights and equality of access to full citizenship rights (Carney1997). Income security is related to whether full superannuation schemes were available during the individual's working life. The age of the individual at the time of retirement is relevant when retirement is forced at an early age because of impairment or loss of employment. Income may also be affected by changes in tax levies, costs of private health insurance and general economic swings.

There are systems for helping financially challenged people to get aged and community care services but there are obvious inequities caused by "structural lag" in which mismatching Commonwealth and State/Territory funding and programs inevitably creating gaps (Pfeffer & Green 1997). These inequities result in poverty and poverty traps for recipients and for those deemed ineligible for assistance. There are interface barriers which

frustrate the ageing in place aspirations of people with disabilities (NDS 2009). Ageing people who do not have their own homes may become homeless. This can occur when the person has a temporary or permanent deterioration of their condition and needs community based care. There are waiting lists for any form of community care. The consequence is both an accommodation and a need-for-care crisis occur.

People ageing with disabilities continue to value having control over their lives. Many are afraid that a life crisis might mean they lose control over their choices of care, accommodation or life goals. Ageism attitudes from service providers occurs when services take over elderly clients' choices (Cohen 1988). Personal rights such as respect and dignity may be threatened by the way a request for help is interpreted.

Ageing may bring additional impairments to persons with long-term disabilities, forcing such people to develop new ways of adapting their lives. They can face emotional turmoil and may need skilled help from peers with disabilities, or professionals, to assist in developing coping strategies. Coping strategies include finding an element of personal control by focussing on the positive aspects of a traumatic experience, or finding some meaning in the event (Thompson 1993). The more substantial the impairment, the more important the individual's social and material environment will become to the realisation, or otherwise, of personal goals. People with disabilities have to marshal their own resources and, when necessary, seek external sources of help.

4.6 Lack of informed advisors and services

For people ageing with disabilities there are very few health professionals who can advise them and even less access to crisis services. They need services where personnel are trained in disability and ageing issues (Bigby, Fyffe and McCubbery 2005). Very few clinics in Australia are able to work with people who need management of their primary impairments as well as aged care assessment. These clinics are usually for people with intellectual disabilities.

Although the last Australian polio epidemic was 1954-56, survivors live on. There may have been 70,000 Australians paralysed by polio between 1936 and 1961 (Jones 1991). Despite the significant numbers, there are only two polio clinics in Australia, one in Victoria and one in Western Australia. The majority of their clients are ageing. Staffing limitations mean they are not able to provide full assessment of ageing concerns, nor can they supply ongoing care for polio related impairment.

Anecdotal reports indicate that if people with impairments do engage with the aged care or acute hospital systems they are unlikely to encounter treating professionals with knowledge, and therefore empathy, concerning their primary impairment (Deane 2009). Health care workers do not comprehend the complicated adaptive strategies which their long-term disabled clients have had to develop in order to get on with their lives.

Leaving the population of people ageing with impairment unexamined by gerontologists and associated professionals is dangerous because of the risk of high incidence of untreated secondary conditions, unnecessary dependency and unnecessary polypharmacy (Annison et al 1996). It is arguable that professional neglect of the field of ageing for people with physical impairments is due to a trained mindset whereby health care professionals see such patients as chronically biologically dysfunctional (Temby & Cooper 1996, Barnes 2003).

4.7 Disability service providers need aged care skills

People with disabilities can also acquire age-related health conditions and need appropriate assessment by geriatric medical services and assistance from skilled service providers. It would be useful to trial a program similar to the British Expert Patient Program (Barlow et al 2000, Shaw & Baker 2004). This would enable the disabled patient to share their knowledge of their impairments and gain new information from their health professional to cope with ageing issues.

Ageing in place is important. Great distress is caused by the arbitrary cut-off of disability services at age 65 with a consequent transfer to aged care. Disability service providers are more influenced by consumer expectations and have some understanding of the social model of disability, whereas aged care models are still more prescriptive (Putnam 2002).

5. Recommendations

People with disabilities have contributed to Australia and their various communities. They have extensive knowledge in managing their respective conditions but need more advice and help while journeying through ageing. Australia has ratified the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and its Optional Protocol, and has thus committed the nation to protect the rights of those with disabilities regardless of age.

Women With Disabilities Australia makes the following recommendations to assist people with disabilities, policy makers and service providers to become informed about the issues and to develop appropriate interventions:

- 5.1 Positive ageing, with quality of life performance indicators, must be included in the objectives of every service provider involved with people ageing with long-term disabilities;
- 5.2 People with disabilities must be enabled to age in place by removal of the barriers identified by National Disability Services (2009);

- 5.3 Where necessary, people with substantial disabilities must be assisted to stay at home, with increased support funded from a specific aged care package to meet expenses not covered by their current Individual Support Package or other support funding;
- 5.4 The National Women's Health Policy must incorporate longitudinal research on women with disabilities particularly in relation to menopause and osteoporosis;
- 5.5 The Royal Australia College of General Practitioners, the Royal Australasian College of Physicians, the Australian and New Zealand Society for Geriatric Medicine, the Australasian Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, the Australian College of Nursing, the Australian Physiotherapy Association, the Australian Association of Social Workers and other health professional organisations must develop training modules about the issues confronting people ageing with any form of long-term disability;
- 5.6 These colleges and associations must develop assessment protocols which recognize and take into account the experience of people with disabilities and work with their clients to enable them to:
 - maintain their skills
 - ii. maintain their independence
 - iii. be educated in ways of caring for their health conditions
- 5.7 Clinics must develop to deal with the necessity of providing impairment management advice and address issues experienced by people with disabilities as well as providing assistance with ageing processes;
- 5.8 In recognition of the skills of self management developed by people with disabilities to cope with long-term impairments, medical practitioners should trial the British Expert Patient Program;
- 5.9 Medical and health professional organisations must work with National Disability Services to develop the aged care skills needed to assist clients within disability services;
- 5.10 Longitudinal research must be undertaken to look at the effectiveness of service providers' aged care programs and develop innovations in care options.

6. Conclusion

The information in this submission is garnered from the sparse research and statistical data which available on the topic, supplemented by anecdotal information provided by seniors who are women with long-term disabilities. A further limiting factor is that almost all of the data and research on ageing with disabilities has been undertaken without gender disaggregation, as if the experience of disability and the experience of ageing are identical for both women and men. In the non-disabled population this assumption is rarely made. Therefore in this submission it has generally not been possible to nominate specific effects for women with disabilities. Yet, given that they experience greater marginalization than their male peers in most areas of their lives, and at most stages of their lives, it is likely that women with disabilities will need pro-active programs to ensure that the inequities experienced in earlier life are not perpetuated and exacerbated in older age.

As in many other areas of disability studies there is an urgent for research and the collection of data. Data must be routinely disaggregated by disability and gender, with efforts made to identify other differentiating factors such as multicultural background; Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander descent; lifestyle choices and rural, remote place of living. Statistical information must be made publicly and freely available for non-government research purposes.

The societal and policy structures which have shaped the life-long experiences of women with disabilities mean that they are likely to experience greater poverty in old age and for longer periods of time than their male counterparts. In particular the portability of services over State/Territory boundaries must be addressed for women with disabilities as they age. Similarly the transition from disability services to aged care services must be eliminated or made seamless.

Women with disabilities must also be involved in planning and on advisory groups formed to develop policies and programs that will improve the ageing experience for this significant and growing group of the population.

7. References

Annison, J., Jenkinson, J., Sparrow, W., & Bethune, E. (1996). *Disability: A Guide for Health Professionals*. Thomas Nelson Australia.

Australian Bureau of Statistics (2003). *Disability, Ageing and Carers:* Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics, Catalogue 4430.0

Australian Bureau of Statistics (2004). *Australian Social Trends. Summary of Findings*. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics. Catalogue 4102.

Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS), 2008, *Australian Social Trends* 2008 Cat. No. 4102.0, ABS, viewed 28 June 2009,

 $http://www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/ausstats/subscriber.nsf/0/DE5DE30C9CF6E5E3CA25748E00126A25/\$File/41020_2008.pdf$

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2000). Disability and ageing. Australian population patterns and implications. Canberra: AIHW Cat. no. dis. 19.

Barlow, J., Turner, A. & Wright, C. (2000.) A randomised, controlled study of the Arthritis Self-management programme in the UK. *Health Education Research*.15 (6) 665-680. cited in Shaw, J & Baker, M. (2004). Editorial. "Expert patient – Dream or nightmare" *British Medical Journal*. 328. 723-724

Borowski, A & Hugo, G. (1997). Demographic Trends and Policy Implications. In (eds.) Borowski, A., Encel, S. & Ozanne, E. *Ageing and social policy in Australia*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Browning, C., Wells, Y., & Joyce, A. (2005). The experience of ageing: Influences on mental health and well-being. *Contemporary Issues in Gerontology: Promoting Positive Ageing*. Crows Nest: Allen & Unwin

Bruno, R. (2002). The Polio Paradox. New York: Warner Book

Commonwealth of Australia (2003). Intergenerational Report 2002-3. Budget Paper No. 5 Canberra: Canprint

Carney, T. (1997). Ageing and the Law: Perspectives and prospects. In (eds.) Borowski, A., Encel. S., & Ozanne, E. *Ageing and Social Policy in Australia*. Oakleigh Melbourne: Cambridge University Press

Cohen, E. (1988). The Elderly Mystique: Constraints on the Autonomy of the Elderly With Disabilities. *The Gerontologist*. 28. Supplement. 24-31

Cooper, M. (1998). Sharpening the Focus on Ageing with Longterm Physical Disability. *Australian Journal of Primary Health - Interchange*. Vol.4., No. 1. .87-92

Coory, M. (2004). Ageing and Healthcare Costs in Australia: a case of policy-based evidence. *Medical Journal of Australia*. 180 (11) 581-583

Crewe, N.M. (1990). Ageing and severe physical disability: Patterns of change and implications for services. *Educational Gerontology*, 16, 525-534

Deane, K. (2009). Shut Out: The Experience of People with Disabilities and their Families In Australia. National People with Disabilities and Carers Council. Canberra: Canprint

Fyffe, C., Bigby, C. & McCubbery, G. (2005). The strategic implications of an older client group for Paraquad Victoria. Final Report.

Gerhart, K., Bergstrom, E., Charlifue S., & Menter, R. (1993). Long-term spinal cord injury: Functional changes over time. *Archives Phys. Med. Rehab* 74 1030-34

Gray, L., Yeo, M & Duckett, S. (2004). Trends in the use of hospital beds by older people in Australia 1993-2002. *Medical Journal of Australia vol.* 181 (9) 478-481

Garland, D., Steward, C., Adkins, R., Hu, S., Rosen, C., Liotta, F. and Weinstein, D. (1992). Osteoporosis following Spinal Cord Injury. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*. 10. 371-378

Giles, L., Cameron, I., & Crotty, M. (2003). Disability in older Australians. *Medical Journal of Australia*. Vol. 179 (3). 130-133

Harvey, D., Reichenberg, A. & Bowie, C. (2006). Cognition and Ageing in Psychopathology. *Annual Review in Clinical Psychology*. Vol. 2. 389-409

Haziza M, Kremer R, Benedetti A, Trojan DA. (2007). Osteoporosis in a post polio clinic population. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2007 Aug; 88 (8):1030-1035

Hughes, B. (1990). Quality of Life. In (ed). Peace, S.M. Researching Social Gerontology. Concepts, Methods and Issues. London: Sage Publications

Jones, R (1991) Post polio syndrome: what can we do. The Medical Journal of Australia 155 (6) 360-61

Kalpakjian, C., Tate, D., Quint, E. (2004). Women with Polio: Menopause, Late Effects, Life Satisfaction, and Emotional Distress. Final Report Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Health System

McCallum, J., & Kobayashi, R. (2001). Australia Japan: A comparison of aged care in Australia and Japan. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

March, L. & Bagga, H. (2004). Epidemiology of osteoarthritis in Australia. *Medical Journal of Australia*. 180(5). S6-S10

Ministerial Reference Group. (1999a). *National Strategy for an Ageing Australia. Background paper*. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia

Ministerial Reference group. (1999b) *Independence and Self Provision. National Strategy for an Ageing Australia*. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia

Mosqueda, L. (2004). Physiological Changes and Secondary Conditions. In (eds.) Kemp, B. & Mosqueda, L. *Ageing with a Disability. What the Clinician Needs to Know.* Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

Newell, C. & Goggin, G. (2005). Disability in Australia: Exposing Social Apartheid. Sydney: UNSW Press

Oeppen J. & Vaupel, J. (2002). Broken Limits to Life Expectancy. Science. 296. 5570. 1029

Pfeffer, M. & Green, D. (1997). The Making of Policies for the Aged. In (eds.). Borowski, A., Encel, S. & Ozanne, E. (Eds.) *Ageing and social policy in Australia*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

National Disability Services Victoria. (2009). Interface Barriers: Impediments to Ageing in Place. Summation Report.

Putnam, M. (2002). Linking Aging Theory and Disability Models: Increasing the Potential to Explore Aging with Physical Impairment. *The Gerontologist*. 42 (6). 799-806

Rowe, J. & Kahn, R. (1987) Human ageing: usual and successful. Science 237. 143-149

Saunders, P. (2006) *The Costs of Disability and the Incidence of Poverty*. SPRC Discussion Paper No. 147. Published by The Social Policy Research Centre, University of New South Wales, Sydney NSW.

Seeman, E. & Eisman, J. (2004). Treatment of osteoporosis: why, whom, when and how to treat. Medical Journal of Australia. 180. 298-303.

Thompson, L. (2004). Functional Changes Affecting People Ageing with Disabilities. In (eds.) Kemp, B.J., Mosqueda, L. (2004). *Ageing with a Disability*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University

Torres-Gil, F, & Putnam, M. (2004). The Politics of Aging with a Disability. In (eds.) Kemp, J., Mosqueda, L. (2004). *Ageing with a Disability*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University 262-279

Trieschmann, R. (1987) Ageing with Disability. New York: Demos

Trieschmann, R. (1992). Psychosocial research in spinal cord injury. *Paraplegia*, 30(1), 58-60.

United Nations (2002). Madrid International Plan on Ageing. Report of the Second World Assembly on Ageing. New York: United Nations

United Nations (2008). Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities.

Warburton, J. & Bartlett, H. (2004). Economic Implications of an Ageing Australia. Submission to the Productivity Commission. Australasian Centre on Ageing, University of Queensland.

Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA) (2004) Submission to the Standing Committee on Employment and Workplace Relations Inquiry into Increasing Participation in Paid Employment. Available online at: http://www.wwda.org.au/employsub.htm

Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA) (2006) Submission to the Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute (AHURI) 21st Century Housing Careers Study. WWDA, Rosny Park, Tasmania.